In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SERAFIN SANTANA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S198324
SUFREME COURT

APR 2 0 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. D059013

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. RIF139207

The Honorable Mark E. Johnson, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does CALCRIM No. 801, which purports to define the crime of mayhem, incorrectly require that the prosecutor prove the additional element that a defendant caused "serious bodily injury"?

INTRODUCTION

Serafin Santana shot a victim three times in the leg with a handgun at close range. At the time, the victim was lying on the ground after having been beaten by several of Santana's friends. Remarkably, the victim's wounds were through-and-through and they required no stitches. Relevant here, Santana was charged with attempted mayhem, in violation of Penal Code¹ sections 203 and 664, subdivision (a)(2). The jury was instructed on mayhem with CALCRIM No. 801, which, unlike its predecessor, and contrary to the statutory language, required the prosecution show that Santana had attempted to cause "serious bodily injury" as an additional element. The trial court modified the instruction by noting that a "serious bodily injury" may include a gunshot wound. The Court of Appeal reversed the conviction after concluding that the trial court's insertion of the phrase "a gunshot wound" into CALCRIM No. 801 as an example of what may constitute a "serious bodily injury" erroneously directed the jury to focus on the means by which Santana intended to inflict the wound, rather than the nature and severity of the wound.

The crime of mayhem has been in existence for centuries and has remained unchanged in the California Penal Code since 1874. The statute does not express that the injury inflicted must be a "serious bodily injury"; nor has it ever been necessary to modify the type of injury that must be sustained for purposes of this crime beyond the statutory requirements.

¹ Unless otherwise specified, all statutory references are to the Penal Code.

Thus, CALCRIM No. 801, purporting to define the crime of mayhem, incorrectly requires that the prosecutor prove the additional element that a defendant caused "serious bodily injury." The instruction here required that the prosecutor prove Santana intended to cause "serious bodily injury," which was superfluous to the requirement that it must prove Santana intended to "maliciously disable[] or [make] useless part of someone's body and the disability was more than slight or temporary." Moreover, because proof of serious bodily injury is not a requirement of mayhem, Santana suffered no prejudice from the court's instruction in which it defined the term, even if incorrectly. Therefore, the Court of Appeal's opinion should be reversed and Santana's attempted mayhem conviction reinstated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the night of August 12, 2007, Juan Gomez, was having a party for his wife and kids at his Moreno Valley house. (2 RT 38, 40-41, 185.) Santana, Gomez's friend and coworker, whom Gomez knew as "Junior," was at the party with some younger people, whom Gomez did not know. (2 RT 185-187.)

At approximately 2:00 a.m., three doors down from Gomez's house, 15-year-old Bryan Vallejo and his friends, Andy Ortiz and "Vanessa," were in Vallejo's front yard, inhaling laughing gas through a balloon. (1 RT 39-40, 128-131.) Four or five Hispanic males, including a man subsequently identified as Santana, walked from Gomez's party to Vallejo and his friends. (1 RT 41-46, 131-133, 142.) Santana and his friends struck up a friendly conversation with Vallejo and Ortiz. (1 RT 46-47.) They indicated they were in a "party crew" from Rialto called "Fame." (1 RT 75.) Vallejo stated he was in party crew called "Rock Star." (1 RT 75-76.) One member of Santana's group then asked Vallejo if he could get marijuana. (1 RT 47.) Vallejo said he would try. (1 RT 47.) After he told

the men he was unable to procure the drugs, trash was thrown on Vallejo's grass, an argument ensued, and the taller of Santana's friends wanted to fight Vallejo. (1 RT 48-49, 136.) Santana said, "Lets see what you're made of' and told his friend and Vallejo to go up the street. (1 RT 49.) Santana's group and Vallejo and Ortiz walked up the street and Vallejo began to fight with the tall Hispanic male. (1 RT 51-53, 138, 141.)

During the fight, several of Santana's friends jumped in and also began to fight Vallejo. (1 RT 54, 144-145.) The men were hitting him in the stomach and ribs. (1 RT 55.) When Ortiz began to move towards his friend Vallejo, Santana pointed a gun at Ortiz's head and stated to his friends, "This bitch ain't gonna do nothing." (1 RT 147-147.) Santana then struck Ortiz with the gun on the back of the head and forehead. (1 RT 148.) As Santana ran towards Vallejo, Ortiz yelled, "He has a gun." (1 RT 55, 149.) Santana struck Vallejo on the head behind the ear with the gun, knocking Vallejo to the ground. (1 RT 55-56.) Vallejo curled up into a fetal position and the men continued to hit him. (1 RT 57.) Santana then said, "Let's go," to his friends. (1 RT 52, 57-58, 150.) Several of the men who were kicking Vallejo ran into a nearby Cadillac. (1 RT 58.) Santana, the only one of his group remaining at the scene, ran up to Vallejo and shot him three times in the leg from about three to four feet away with a small black revolver as Vallejo lay on the sidewalk. (1 RT 58-62, 68, 150-151.) Santana then ran across the street and got into a green or blue car and drove off. (1 RT 63, 151-152.)

Ortiz ran over to Vallejo, told him he had been shot, and helped him up. (1 RT 65-66, 153.) Vallejo was bleeding. (1 RT 153-154.) The two walked to Vallejo's house. (1 RT 154.) Someone ran into Gomez's backyard and stated that someone had been shot. (2 RT 193.) Vallejo described the shooter and his friends to Gomez and said they had come from Gomez's party. (1 RT 68-69, 193.) After hearing the description,

Gomez said that it was, "Junior." (1 RT 69; 2 RT 194.) At some point, Gomez also told Vallejo that he had seen Santana carrying a .38 caliber revolver in the past. (2 RT 337-338.) Gomez provided the name "Junior" to police and indicated he was a coworker in Rialto. (2 RT 199-200, 267.)

Vallejo was taken to the hospital where he was treated for his injuries. (1 RT 69-70.) He had been shot three times in the leg. (1 RT 70-71; 2 RT 265.) His wounds were through-and-through and they required no stitches. (1 RT 70-71; 2 RT 265.) After the shooting, Vallejo used a cane to walk and was unable to sit because of the exit wounds to his buttocks. (1 RT 72.) He continues to suffer pain in his leg and was unable to play football at school, where he had hoped to earn a scholarship. (1 RT 72, 74.)

Gomez spoke to Santana at work the following Monday. Santana denied shooting Vallejo. (2 RT 196.) Santana then spoke to police about the shooting. (2 RT 285, 289.) He admitted he had attended the party with his cousin, and stated he had heard about the shooting, but denied any involvement. (2 RT 290-292.)

On August 12, 2007, a search warrant was executed at Santana's residence in Rialto. (2 RT 296, 302-303.) A bag containing 50 live .38 caliber bullets was located in the garage of the house. (2 RT 298, 300.)

On September 28, 2007, Vallejo was asked by police to identify the shooter from a photographic lineup. (1 RT 76-77.) Vallejo identified Santana with 80% certainty. (1 RT 79-80.) Additionally, Ortiz was also shown a photographic lineup in which he identified Santana as the shooter. (1 RT 158, 161-162.)

After Santana was arrested, somebody approached Gomez while he was at work and told Gomez to tell Vallejo not to show up in court. (2 RT 248-249.) This scared Gomez, who thought that he might get shot, and caused Gomez to have second thoughts about his testimony. (2 RT 250.)

Santana was charged, in count 1, with attempted mayhem, in violation of sections 203 and 664, subdivision (a)(2). It was further alleged, as to count 1, that Santana personally used a firearm causing great bodily injury and personally inflicted great bodily injury.² (§§ 12022.53, subd. (d),12022.7.) (1 CT 93-95.)

At trial, the jury was instructed with a modified version of CALCRIM No. 460, in pertinent part, as follows:

The defendant is charged in Count 1 with attempted mayhem.

To prove that the defendant is guilty of this crime, the People must prove that:

1. The defendant took a direct but ineffective step toward committing the crime of mayhem;

AND

2. The defendant intended to commit mayhem.

(1 CT 213.)

Additionally, the trial court instructed the jury on the crime of mayhem with a modified version of CALCRIM No. 801 as follows:

To prove that the defendant is guilty of mayhem, the People must prove that the defendant caused serious bodily injury when he unlawfully and maliciously disabled or made useless part of someone's body and the disability was more than slight or temporary.

Someone acts maliciously when he or she intentionally does a wrongful act or when he or she acts with the unlawful intent to annoy or injure someone else.

² Santana was additionally charged, in count 2, with assault with a firearm (§ 245, subd. (a)(2)). Count 3 also charged Santana with assault with a firearm arising from when Santana pistol whipped Ortiz.

A serious bodily injury means a serious impairment of physical condition. Such an injury may include a gunshot wound.

(1 CT 214, emphasis added.)³

violation of Penal Code section 203]. [¶]To prove that the defendant is guilty of mayhem, the People must prove that the defendant caused serious bodily injury when (he/she) unlawfully and maliciously: [¶][1. Removed a part of someone's body(;/.)][¶] [OR] [¶][2. Disabled or made useless a part of someone's body and the disability was more than slight or temporary(;/.)][¶] [OR] [¶] [3. Permanently disfigured someone(;/.)][¶] [OR] [¶] [4. Cut or disabled someone's tongue(;/.)[¶][OR] [¶] [5. Slit someone's (nose[,]/ear[,]/[or] lip) (;/.)][¶] [OR] [¶] [6. Put out someone's eye or injured someone's eye in a way that so significantly reduced (his/her) ability to see that the eye was useless for the purpose of ordinary sight.]

Someone acts maliciously when he or she intentionally does a wrongful act or when he or she acts with the unlawful intent to annoy or injure someone else.

[A serious bodily injury means a serious impairment of physical condition. Such an injury may include[, but is not limited to]: (protracted loss or impairment of function of any bodily member or organ/ a wound requiring extensive suturing/ [and] serious disfigurement).]

[______ < Insert description of injury when appropriate; see Bench Notes> is a serious bodily injury.]

[A disfiguring injury may be permanent even if it can be repaired by medical procedures.]

(CALCRIM No. 801, emphasis added.)

The unmodified version of CALCRIM No. 801 states as follows:

The defendant is charged [in Count _____] with mayhem [in violation of Penal Code section 203]. [¶]To prove that the

The jury convicted Santana of all charges and found all enhancements true. (1 CT 165-166.)

Santana argued on appeal that the trial court's modification of the mayhem instruction was argumentative and created an imbalance in the prosecution's favor by stating that a serious bodily injury "may include a gunshot wound." He further argued the instruction directed a verdict in favor of the prosecution by suggesting to the jury it needed to find only that Santana inflicted a gunshot wound in order to find him guilty of attempted mayhem.

In a partially-published decision issued October 26, 2011, the Court of Appeal concluded that the trial court's insertion of the phrase "a gunshot wound" as an example of what may constitute a serious bodily injury, directed the jury to focus on the means by which the defendant intended to inflict the wound, rather that the nature and severity of the wound, and provided a grossly misleading and argumentative instruction that favored the prosecution. (Slip Opn. at p. 13.) The Court of Appeal reversed the jury's finding of attempted mayhem. (Slip Opn. at pp. 3-20.) In dissent, Justice Benke concluded that the jury was properly instructed on attempted mayhem and, in any event, there was no probability that the instructional error identified by the majority influenced the jury's verdict. (Dissent at p. 1.)

Respondent filed a petition for rehearing, pointing out that the statutory definition of mayhem does not contain the additional element of serious bodily injury and therefore appellant could not have been prejudiced by the court's instruction. The majority denied the petition; in dissent, Justice Benke voted to grant it.

On February 22, 2012, this Court granted respondent's petition for review.

I. CALCRIM NO. 801, PURPORTING TO DEFINE THE CRIME OF MAYHEM, INCORRECTLY REQUIRES THAT THE PROSECUTOR PROVE THE ADDITIONAL ELEMENT THAT A DEFENDANT CAUSED SERIOUS BODILY INJURY

The Court of Appeal reversed Santana's attempted mayhem conviction after finding that the trial court erroneously instructed the jury that a gunshot wound could constitute "serious bodily injury" for purposes of mayhem. However, an examination of the history and development of the law of mayhem demonstrates that "serious bodily injury" is not a statutory element of mayhem that the prosecution must prove. Because there is no basis for such a requirement in either statutory or case law, the addition of a new element in CALCRIM No. 801 is unwarranted and as modified in the present case, a "serious bodily injury" was inherent in the requirement that the prosecution prove Santana attempted to disable or make useless a part of the victim's body. Additionally, requiring the proof of a "serious bodily injury" over and above the statutory language creates an increased burden on the prosecution and could lead to jury confusion and unintended consequences. By adding a new element, the instruction is likely to lead the jury astray and into believing the "serious bodily injury" requirement was not superfluous, and should be attributed greater significance. The additional element in CALCRIM No. 801 steps on the Legislature's prerogative and, as the last 135 years has shown, is completely unnecessary.

A. The Historical Development of the Mayhem Statute

The crime of mayhem has been in existence for centuries and has remained unchanged in the California Penal Code since 1874. Viewing the historical development of mayhem, it is apparent that the crime has been broadened and liberalized since early common law and through its statutory

enactment in California. Presently, mayhem is defined in Penal Code section 203 as follows:

Every person who unlawfully and maliciously deprives a human being of a member of his body, or disables, disfigures, or renders it useless, or cuts or disables the tongue, or puts out an eye, or slits the nose, ear, or lip, is guilty of mayhem.

Mayhem has three elements: (1) an unlawful act by means of physical force; (2) resulting in an injury which "deprives a human being of a member of his body, or disables, disfigures or renders it useless, or cuts or disables the tongue, or puts out an eye, or slits the nose, ear, or lip . . . ;" and (3) done "maliciously," defined as "an unlawful intent to vex, annoy, or injure another person." (*People v. Ausbie* (2004)123 Cal. App. 4th 855, 861 citing Pen. Code, § 203["The offense includes three elements..."].)

At common law, mayhem, an older form of the word "maim," was originally committable only by infliction of an injury which substantially reduced the victim's formidability in combat. (*Goodman v. Superior Court* (1978) 84 Cal.App.3d 621, 623-624.) The rationale behind the crime was to preserve the king's right to the military services of his subjects. (*People v. Keenan* (1991) 227 Cal. App. 3d 26, 33-34.) Over the years, this definition was liberalized and expanded to include "mere disfigurement without an attendant reduction in fighting ability" where the injury was permanent. (*Goodman, supra,* 84 Cal. App. 4th at p. 624; see also *People v. Green* (1976) 59 Cal.App.3d 1, 3 ["what is important now is not the victim's capacity for attack or defense, but the integrity of his person"].)

The court in *People v. Newble* (1981) 120 Cal. App. 3d 444 discussed the origins of the crime of mayhem and explained how the crime was broadened and evolved at common law:

"To cut off, or permanently to cripple, a man's hand or finger, or to strike out his eye or foretooth, were all mayhems at common law, if done maliciously, because any such harm rendered the person less efficient as a fighting man (for the king's army). But

an injury such as cutting off his ear or nose did not constitute mayhem, according to the English common law, because it did not result in permanent disablement, but merely disfigured the victim. This was corrected by an early English statute. It seems that an assault was made upon Sir John Coventry on the street by persons who waylaid him and slit his nose in revenge for obnoxious words uttered by him in Parliament. This emphasized the weakness of the law of mayhem, and the so-called 'Coventry Act' was passed. This provided the penalty of death for any one who should, with malice aforethought, 'cut out or disable the tongue, put out an eye, slit the nose, cut off a nose or lip, or cut off or disable any limb or member of any subject; with the intention in so doing to maim or disfigure him.' This statute did not displace the English common law of mayhem (malicious maining) but provided an increased penalty for intentional maiming and for the first time extended the crime to include disfigurement (if intentional). Hence a true definition of the crime according to the English law must be in some such form as this: Mayhem is malicious maining or maliciously and intentionally disfiguring another." (Perkins on Criminal Law (2d ed. 1969) ch. 2, § 8, pp. 185-186; original italics; fns. omitted.)

(People v. Newble, supra, 120 Cal. App. 3d at 450-451.)

California's statutory development of the crime of mayhem commenced in 1850. (See *People v. Sekona* (1994) 27 Cal. App. 4th 443, 454-455 [delineating statutory history of section 203].) That year, the Legislature defined mayhem as follows:

Mayhem consists in unlawfully depriving a human being of a member of his or her body, or disfiguring it or rendering it useless. If any person shall unlawfully cut out or disable the tongue, put out an eye, slit the nose, ear, or lip, or disable any limb or member of another, or shall voluntarily and of purpose put out an eye or eyes, every such person shall be guilty of mayhem, and on conviction shall be punished by imprisonment in the State Prison

(Stats. 1850, ch. 99, § 46, pp. 233-234.)

After only one minor amendment in 1856, in 1872, as part of California's adoption of the Code Commission's proposed codification of

the Penal Code, mayhem was established as Penal Code section 203, defined as follows:

Every person who unlawfully and maliciously deprives a human being of a member of his body, or disables, disfigures or renders it useless, or who cuts out or disables the tongue, puts out an eye, slits the nose, ear, or lip, is guilty of mayhem.

(1 Pen. Code, § 203 (1st ed. 1872, Haymond, Burch & McKune, commrs.) pp. 96-97.)

Only two years later, in 1874, the Legislature amended the mayhem statute to its current version, extending the offense to cover one who "cuts," instead of "cuts out" or disables the tongue, further liberalizing the common law requirements. (Cal. Code Amends. 1873-1874, ch. 614, § 17, p. 427.) The statute has not been substantively amended since.⁴

While section 203 contains "verbal vestiges" of common law and the Coventry Act, "the modern rationale of the crime may be said to be the preservation of the natural completeness and normal appearance of the human face and body, and not, as originally, the preservation of the sovereign's right to the effective military assistance of his subjects."

(People v. Newble, supra, 120 Cal. App. 3d at p. 441, citing LaFave & Scott, Criminal Law (1972) ch. 7, § 83, pp. 614-615; see also Cal.Criminal Defense Practice (Matthew Bender 2011) ch. 142 § 142.16 ["[M]ayhem under Penal Code section 203 includes any act that violates the natural completeness and normal appearance of the human body, and is not restricted to those acts involving the most heinous disfiguring and disabling attacks."]; 2 Lafave, Substantive Criminal Law (2003) Physical Harm and Apprehension Thereof, § 16.5(b), p. 600 ["Thus the modern rationale of the

⁴ In 1989, section 203 was amended for "routine code maintenance," but there were no actual changes to the language of the statute. (Stats. 1989, ch. 1360, § 106, p. 5864.)

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