SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 23 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Deputy

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA,

Respondent,

V.

SERAFIN SANTANA,

Appellant.

-00000
Case No. S198324

Fourth District Court of Appeal
Case Number D059013
{formerly E049081}

Riverside County Superior Court
Case No. RIF139207

On Review from the Decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, Aaron, J., filed October 26, 2011, on Appeal from the Judgment of the Riverside County Superior Court, the Honorable MARK E. JOHNSON, Judge Presiding, entered on August 14, 2009.

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARL FABIAN
Attorney at Law

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

opinion of the court as to any fact in issue"], emphasis added; also see 5 Witkin, Cal. Crim. Law (3d ed. 2000) Criminal Trial, § 625, p. 890; also see Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 2.1050(e) ["[W]hen a Judicial Council instruction cannot be modified to submit the issue properly, the instruction given on that subject should be accurate, brief, understandable, impartial, and free from argument"], emphasis added.)

Because the instruction at issue in this case both inadequately described the elements and misdirected the jury to the prosecution's evidence and thereby created an imbalance in the prosecution's favor, appellant was denied due process and the right to a fair trial and reversal is required. (U.S. Const., Amends. V. VI. XIV; Cal. Const. art. 1, § 16; Estelle v. McGuire (1991) 502 U.S. 62, 72; People v. Huggins (2006) 38 Cal.4th 175, 211-212 [instructional errors such as misdescriptions and presumptions are reviewed under Chapman].)¹³

No objection to the instruction was interposed by appellant and none was required. (§ 1259; *People v. Smithey* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 936, 976-977, fn. 7 [instructional error affecting the defendant's substantial rights may be reviewed on appeal in the absence of an objection].)

¹³ Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24.)

The error was neither harmless nor harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the fact that the improper instruction went to the very heart of the weakest part of the prosecution's case (the degree of harm suffered by Vallejo), while simultaneously involving the most serious charge appellant was facing (i.e., the charge that would qualify appellant for an indeterminate life term with a 25-year minimum parole eligibility).

The instruction modification created an impermissible presumption in favor of guilt. (Sandstrom v. Montana (1979) 442 U.S. 510 [instruction violated defendant's right to due process where jury instruction indicated he was presumed to have acted with malice]; Francis v. Franklin (1985) 471 U.S. 307 [same with respect to presumption defendant acted with sound mind]; Patterson v. Gomez (9th Cir. 2000) 223 F.3d 959 [instruction that defendant presumed sane violated due process].)

C. <u>Instructions Which Pinpoint One Party's Evidence Are Argumentative and Improper.</u>

The law on pinpoint instructions is venerable, well-settled and frequently reiterated in cases decided by this Court. Essentially, a party is entitled to a pinpoint instruction on a *theory* of the case; but it is improper for the court to give a pinpoint instruction that highlights the *evidence* in the case. Under these circumstances the instruction is argumentative and therefore improper. (*People v.*

Hughes (2002) 27 Cal.4th 287, 361; People v. Earp (1999) 20 Cal.4th 826, 886; People v. Roberts (1992) 2 Cal.4th 271, 313-314; People v. Wright (1988) 45 Cal.3d 1126, 1137.) The rule applies equally to instructions which favor the prosecution as well as instructions which might favor the defense. (Reagan v. United States (1895) 157 U.S. 301, 310 ["The court should be impartial between the government and the defendant"]; People v. Moore, supra, 43 Cal.2d at pp. 526-527 ["There should be absolute impartiality as between the People and defendant in the matter of instructions"].)

In an oft-cited case for this principle of law this Court held when an instruction directs the jury to a party's evidence "i.e., it would invite the jury to draw inferences favorable to [a party] from specified items of evidence on a disputed question of fact, [it] therefore properly belongs not in instructions, but in the arguments of counsel to the jury." (*People v. Wright, supra*, 45 Cal.3d at p. 1135.) Neither party is entitled to an instruction "in any particular phraseology." (*People v. Hill* (1946) 76 Cal.App.2d 330, 344.)

A fairly recent example of a requested pinpoint instruction that involved an improper request to have the jury focus on evidence as opposed to a theory of the case was discussed by this Court:

Nor did the court err in refusing an instruction that directed the jury to consider, for the purpose of determining whether there was reasonable doubt as to defendant's guilt, evidence that another person had the motive or opportunity to commit the crime. A defendant is entitled, upon request, to a nonargumentative instruction that pinpoints his or her theory of the case. (People v. Wright, supra, 45 Cal.3d 1126, 1135-1136.) An instruction that directs the jury to "consider" certain evidence is properly refused as argumentative. (Id. at p. 1135.) "In a proper instruction, '[w]hat is pinpointed is not specific evidence as such, but the theory of the defendant's case.' " (Id. at p. 1137, quoting People v. Adrian (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 335, 338.)

(*People v. Ledesma* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 641, 720, emphasis added.) In the instant case the court's modification to CALCRIM No. 801 constituted just such an argumentative instruction modification and was, therefore, improper and denied appellant his right to due process and a fair trial.

D. The Inclusion of the Word "May" Did Not Remove the Argumentative Nature of the Instruction.

Respondent relies upon the permissive term "may" in the court's modified instruction as a basis for this Court to find it was not improper. But the word a permissive term does not cure the error of an argumentative instruction:

Defendant's second proposed instruction lists certain specific items of evidence introduced at trial, and would advise the jury that it may "consider" such evidence in determining whether defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. [Footnote omitted.] The court refused to give this instruction because it is argumentative, i.e., it would invite the jury to draw inferences favorable to the defendant from specified items of evidence on a

disputed question of fact, and therefore properly belongs not in instructions, but in the arguments of counsel to the jury.

(People v. Wright, supra, 45 Cal.3d at p. 1135, emphasis added.)

E. Respondent Relies On Two Cases, Castaneda and Musselwhite, Which Do Not Address Argumentative Instructions.

Respondent cites to *People v. Musselwhite* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 1216 and *People v. Castaneda* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1292, to support the claim the court's argumentative instruction was not improper, or in any event, harmless error. (O.B.M. p. 35.) Neither case supports that position.

In *Musselwhite* the issue was whether the instructions adequately informed the jury Musselwhite's mental defect defense was applicable to negate premeditation for first degree murder. Musselwhite requested and was denied a special instruction that specifically told the jury his mental defect defense applied to premeditation; and argued the jury might have been misled by the instructions to conclude his mental defect defense applied only to malice aforethought, because that was the only mental state common to both the murder and attempted (non-premeditated) murder counts. This Court held the instructions, considered as a whole, adequately covered the defense theory by telling the jury the mental defect defense applied to both the murder and attempted murder counts, and clearly informed the jury the mental state at

issue was specific intent, and premeditation required specific intent. (*People v. Musselwhite, supra*, 17 Cal.4th at pp. 1248-1249.)

Respondent also cites to *Castaneda*. In that case the jury was given an inapplicable and therefore unnecessary instruction on implied malice. However, this Court found the instructions on the charged crimes correctly stated the law. Casetaneda was convicted of first degree murder during the commission of a felony, and there were no instructions which told the jury they could find first degree murder based upon implied malice. (*People v. Castaneda, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at pp. 1321-1322.)

More to the point, neither case involved the issue presented in this case -- an instruction which directed the jury to the prosecution's evidence on a key element of the offense.

F. The Argumentative Prosecution Pinpoint Instruction Also Misstated the Law.

As noted above, respondent initially acknowledged one of the questions presented is whether the trial court improperly focused the jury's attention on the prosecution's evidence. (O.B.M. p. 7.)

After doing so however, the words "pinpoint" and "argumentative" do not appear nor reappear respectively in the respondent's brief on the merits; nor does any argument addressing the impropriety of an argumentative prosecution pinpoint instruction.

Instead, respondent confines argument on this issue to the

question of whether the argumentative instruction correctly stated the law and whether the jury was likely confused.

Misstatement of the law is not the test for determining whether an instruction is argumentative. On the contrary, it is not the incorrectness of the pinpoint instruction that violates fair play; it is the imbalance created by an instruction that directs the jury to one party's evidence over the other party's evidence:

A jury instruction is argumentative when it is of such a character as to invite the jury to draw inferences favorable to one of the parties from specified items of evidence. It unfairly highlights particular facts favorable to one side. The trial court should refuse to give a proposed a jury instruction that is argumentative, as it tends to confuse the jury.

(21 Cal.Jur.3d (2012) Criminal Law: Trial § 335, footnotes omitted, emphasis added.) Here the court instructed the jury to determine whether appellant attempted to inflict a "serious" injury on Vallejo. In that instruction the court told the jury "a gunshot wound" may be included in the definition of a serious injury. (C.T. p. 214.) Instead of providing the jury with a content-neutral instruction which stated the law (i.e., the definition of a disabling injury under the law of mayhem), the instruction instead specifically directed the jury to consider the prosecution's evidence in deciding the crucial question of whether appellant attempted to inflict a disabling injury on Vallejo. This is precisely the vice which the argumentative

instruction prohibition was designed to avoid. An instruction that might constitute entirely appropriate closing argument by a party is nevertheless not automatically suitable for a jury instruction:

In asking the trial court to emphasize to the jury the possibility that the beatings were a "misguided, irrational and totally unjustifiable attempt at discipline rather than torture," defendant sought to have the court invite the jury to infer the existence of his version of the facts, rather than his theory of defense. Because of the argumentative nature of the proposed instructions, the trial court properly refused to give them.)

(People v. Mincey, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 437.) The instant case is Mincey in the reverse. Here the court did not confine its pinpoint instruction to the definition of a disabling injury, and, in fact, eliminated that mandatory language from the pattern instruction given to the jury. Instead, the trial court not-too-subtly guided the jury to the prosecution's evidence (a gunshot wound) with a crafted instruction that was intended for cases where the parties have stipulated to the severity of the victim's injury. In doing so the court directed the jury to the type of injury sustained by Vallejo, and failed to provide the jury with the requisite guidance on the severity of the injury sustained--a key issue at trial.

By instructing the jury "a serious impairment of physical condition. . . may include *a gunshot wound*" the court improperly directed the jury that if they found Vallejo sustained a gunshot wound, that was a sufficient basis for the jury to conclude Vallejo

sustained a mayhem injury. (*People v. Nava* (1989) 207

Cal.App.3d 1490, 1499 [court improperly instructed jury a bone fracture was a serious bodily injury as a matter of law].)

The court's action in this case is similar to *Nava*. Although bone fractures are listed as possible serious bodily injuries in section 243, subdivision (f)(4), the court in *Nava* held the examples listed in the statute were merely illustrative and did not necessarily comprise the definition of a serious bodily injury. (*Id.* at p. 1498.)

In the present case it cannot be disputed that one could suffer a mayhem qualifying injury through a wide variety of injury-producing mechanisms, such as a brick, a knife, fists, feet and, of course, a firearm. A reasonable jury would not need to be told a firearm can inflict a disabling injury.

Accordingly, by instructing the jury a gunshot injury may constitute a mayhem injury is effectively inviting the jury to conclude the court was directing the jury to find a mayhem injury by virtue of finding a firearm injury.

This court's instruction was wholly and utterly improper and reversal is required.

G. Appellant Did Not Stipulate Nor Concede Vallejo
Sustained a Mayhem Injury and the Prosecution Was
Not Relieved of Its Burden to Prove This Element of
Count 1.

Respondent contends the court's argumentative instruction

was harmless error because appellant "never disputed that the victim suffered a serious bodily injury when he was shot three times in the leg." (O.B.M. p. 37.) This is a patently incorrect statement.

Contrary to the assertion appellant "never disputed" the extent of the injury at issue appellant availed himself of nearly every procedural vehicle to challenge the evidence on that issue at virtually every step in the criminal proceedings.

At appellant's preliminary hearing he successfully persuaded the magistrate to discharge appellant on the charge of attempted mayhem. (C.T. p. 16.) After the prosecution refiled the attempted mayhem count in superior court, appellant challenged that refiling via a section 995 motion. (C.T. p. 89.) After the close of the prosecution's evidence, appellant again challenged the severity of injury by making a motion for a judgment of acquittal under section 1118.1. The court agreed the evidence on the degree of injury sustained by Vallejo was very close and arguably would not have supported a completed mayhem, but denied the motion. (R.T. pp. 342-343.)

In sum, the mere fact that appellant did not devote a substantial amount of closing argument to this point cannot be correctly construed as any type of a concession.

1. The Lower Court Dissent's Assumption of Acquiescence is Unsupported by the Evidence.

The dissent in the court of appeal concluded appellant did not object to the trial court's argumentative instruction "presumably because the sole defense offered was one of identity." (Slip Opn. dis., pp. 4; 8, fn. 3.) This assumption is without factual support in the record on appeal. The record reflects the trial court advised appellant of its intent to give CALCRIM No. 801 during the lunch break, but the record does not reflect counsel was given a copy of the modified argumentative instruction. (R.T. p. 344 [prosecutor acknowledges instructions have not yet been printed at time of discussion]: 361 [court refers to CALCRIM No. 801 by number].)

After the lunch break there was a second (brief) discussion regarding jury instructions, and particularly regarding instructions on lesser included offenses. (R.T. pp. 368-371.) The instructions were then read to the jury. (C.T. p. 160; R.T. p. 372, et seq.)

Contrary to the dissent's assumption that appellant's counsel did not object to the offending instruction because the degree of injury was not in dispute, the record is silent as to whether the court's modification to CALCRIM No. 801 was ever discussed with appellant's counsel privately or in open court.

Moreover, the assumption of the dissent is directly contradicted by appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal under

section 1118.1. In that motion appellant argued Vallejo's injury did not meet the test of a mayhem injury and the trial court found the argument meritorious: "I think, probably a pretty good argument here that [Vallejo] didn't suffer any permanent injury somehow."

(R.T. p. 341; see also, p. 342 ["[I]n this case the perpetrator, in a sense, got lucky and managed to shoot and not cause serious injuries. . ."].)

H. The Error Was Not Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

The test is whether it can be shown that the error did not contribute to the verdict. (*People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 489 [An instructional error that improperly describes or omits an element of an offense is reviewed under *Chapman*].) Here, the evidence on the question of whether Vallejo actually sustained a serious bodily injury was close. At the close of evidence appellant made a motion to dismiss count 1 under section 1118.1 and the trial court agreed that the evidence of Vallejo's injury was arguably inadequate to support a completed act of mayhem. (R.T. pp. 342-343.) The court noted that appellant had "...a pretty good argument here that [Vallejo] didn't suffer any permanent injury..."

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